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CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

During August and September, 1985, R. Christopher
Goodwin & Associates, Inc. undertook cultural resources
survey of the White Castle Revetment Item, along the batture
of the Mississippi River in Iberville Parish, Louisiana
(Goodwin et al, 1987). Additional testing was recommended at
two historic archeological sites located during that survey
effort, 16 IV 147 and 16 IV 149, in order to assess their
significance applying the National Register of Historic
Places Criteria of Significance (36 CFR 60.4). Pursuant to
Delivery Order 11 of Contract DACW 29-85-D-0113, this report,
prepared for the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, New Orleans
District, presents the results of archeological testing and
significance assessments of the sites 16 IV 147 and 16 IV
149. The Scope of Services for this project, which provides
additional background information pertaining to this study,
is contained in Appendix I.

Over the next several years, the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers plans to construct a continuous, articulated
concrete revetment along the entire downstream reach of the
White Castle Revetment Item. This revetment will extend from
the low water line several hundred feet into the river
channel. Approximately two hundred feet of adjacent batture
land will be graded in preparation for revetment
construction; twelve or more vertical feet of earth will be
removed from the top of the bankline. As Figure 1
illustrates, both sites 16 IV 147 and 16 1V 149 are located
on the batture of the river, within the direct impact
corridor of the planned construction.

The 1985 survey effort (Goodwin et al. 1987) enabled
preliminary characterization of both of the sites under
consideration here. Site 16 1V 147 consisted of a roughly
three hundred meter long linear concentration of historic
structural remains, primarily bricks, and other artifacts
along the beach and bankline of the Mississippi River. Two
features, designated F201 and F202, were recorded in the
bankline profile; both consisted of small brick alignments
indicative of former structural locations (Goodwin et al.
1987:45). Surface collection along the beach in this site
area provided a small ceramic subassemblage dating from the
late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. However,
despite the presence of in situ structural remains at 16 IV
147, bluff profile recordation, auger and shovel testing, and
the excavation of two 1 x 2 m test units failed to provide
any indications whatsoever of artifactual remains in
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association with the aforementioned brick features. For
that reason, the research potential of the site, i.e., its
ability to contribute to understanding of history [36 CFR
60.4 (d)], was unknown, and further testing was recommended.

In 1985, the site 16 IV 149 comprised an irregularly
shaped surface scatter of historic ceramics, glass, brick,
and coal along an approximately 30 x 40 meter long area of
Mississippi River beach and bankline (Goodwin et al.
1987:71). Surface collection primarily along the beach
provided a small but datable ceramic subassemblage indicative
of an early nineteenth century occupation. Because the
portion of the site that could be tested through excavation
was both small and fragile, held in place by tree roots on
the eroding river bluff, testing during 1985 was limited to
profile recordation. Two profiles were cleaned and mapped;
in one, a small (1 x 1 m) articulated brick course was found.
Both profiles indicated the presence of an in situ lens of
cultural remains, including crushed brick, charcoal, faunal
remains, and domestic ceramic and glass sherds. Additional
testing was recommended to evaluate the research potential of
the site, pursuant to 36 CFR 60.4(d).

The 1985 study (Goodwin et al. 1987) also established
thematic significance criteria for the project area. A
thorough historical overview of the 1lberville Parish area was
developed, and specific land tenure histories were presented
for the properties containing 16 IV 147 and 16 IV 149,
Historic land use saw an initial allocation of small farms to
Acadian refugees, followed by the consolidation of those
small holdings into large sugar plantations. Two such
estates, Celeste and Belle Grove Plantations, were dominant
sugar producers in the project area.

Four major themes are significant in the local and
regional history: (l) Acadian settlement of Iberville Parish;
(2) development of the antebellum sugar industry; (3)
recovery of the sugar industry during the postbellum period;
and, (4) development of rice cultivation during the
postbellum period. Because surface collections of ceramic
sherds from both 16 IV 147 and 16 IV 149 contained relatively
early types, such as debased Rouen faience and cream colored
earthenware sherds, it was thought that these sites might be
associated with Acadian settlement in Iberville Parish, an
event with both local and regional significance [36 CFR
60.4(a)].

R




CHAPTER II

THE SETTING

The Natural Setting

The White Castle Revetment project area, on the right
descending bank of the Mississippi River between Miles 192.0
and 190.4, in Iberville Parish, Louisiana (Figure 2), lies
within the modern meander belt of the Upper Mississippi River
Deltaic Plain. The Mississippi River Deltaic Plain, an area
of about 13,000 square miles, covers most of the state of
Louisiana below the town of Angola (Harris 1961:25),. The
Mississippi River has occupied its present meander belt for
approximately the last 4,800 years (Saucier 1974:22).

Historically, fluvial activity, including lateral
migration and overbank deposition dQuring flood stages, has
been the dominant geologic process in the region. During
overflows, the coarser materials carried by the floodwater
were deposited first; they fell near the banks of the
flooding river. The finer materials were carried farther
inland. The coarser materials that accumulated near the
"river built high banks along the watercourse. These levee
deposits are particularly thick on the inner sides of bends,
where low alluvial ridges sloping away from the river were
formed during overflow. The sediments deposited on the
outside of bends during overflow are preserved in the form of
low alluvial ridges typical of a flood plain. In the region
of the project area under consideration here, natural levees
attain widths of up to 5 km:

In the relatively undisturbed slopes south
of White Castle, east of the Lone Star
crevasse, there is about a mile of land with
an elevation in excess of 20 feet, two miles
in the range 15 to 20, a similar width in
the range 10 to 15, one mile between five
and 10, and over five miles between 2.5 and
5.0 (Russell 1938:54).

The broad elevated levee lands of the study area promoted

effective large scale agriculture during the nineteenth and
twentieth centuries.

However, the construction of artificial levees has
altered the natural pattern of deposition and accretion.
Most fluvial activity now is concentrated within the batture,
or land lying between the river and the modern levee system.
The White Castle project area is located entirely within the
present day batture. Loamy and clayey soils characterize the
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batture and adjacent natural levee deposits. Soils within
the project area consist of Convent soils, frequently
flooded (United States Department of Agriculture 1977:11).
In times of flood, these soils are subject to scouring and
deposition. Silty and sandy sediments mark the natural levee
deposits of the river. On the surface, they form long linear
units which project finger-like toward the Gulf; in the
subsurface, they are seen as lenticular masses.

The batture soils support vegetation typical of initial
stages of ecological succession, Initial willow forest is
dominated by black willow (Salix nigra), with cottonwood
(Populus deltoides), sycamore (Platanus occidentalis), and
hackberry (Celtis laevigata) comprising the major overstory
vegetation, Sweetgum (Liquidambar styraciflua), green ash
(Fraxinus pennsylvania), nutall oak (Quercus nutalli), water
oak (Quercus arkansana), elm (Ulmus), and pecan (Carya
illinoensis) may occur at higher elevations. Poison 1ivy,
grape, trumpet creeper, groundnut, buckwheat vine, and
sandvine are the predominant understory vegetation (Bahr et
al. 1983).

Important faunal species present tcday include deer
(0Odocoileus virginianus), cottontail rabbit (Syvilagus
floridanus), swamp rabbit (Sylvilagus aquaticus), opossum
(Didelphis marsupialis), raccoon (Procyon lotor), gray
squirrel (Sciurus carolinensis), fox squirrel (Sciurus
niger), and gray fox (Urocyon cinereocargenteus). Species
that formerly were important in the region include black bear
(Euarctos americanus), mountain lion (Felis concolor), and
wolf (Canis lupus). In addition to mammalian species, birds,
fish, and reptiles all are common in habitats both within and
near the project area (Shelford 1963; Lowery 1974). :

Recent Changes in the Project Landscape

Changes in the landscape caused by natural and
anthropogenic agencies during the historic period also have
implications for the preservation and recovery of
archeological remains within the project area. These
processes include overbank deposition, lateral migration of
the river, and construction of artificial features such as
revetments, protection levees, and borrow areas. All of
these processes have impacted the project area. Both the
location and the condition of cultural deposits identified
during archeological testing in large measure are contingent
upon these processes.

Caving banks caused by river scouring present the
greatest threat to elevated alluvial lands along the
Mississippl River; between 1865 to 1948, 374 miles of levee

6
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were abandoned in favor of new locations because of caving
banks in the Mississippi Levee Districts (Harris 1961:8).
Examination of the Atchafalaya Basin Levee District maps
(Figure 3) indicates that between 1883 and 1945, the river
bankline in the project area was cut 200 feet. The 1974 7.5'
White Castle and Carville quadrangles indicates that
approximately another 150 feet of bankline have been lost
since 1945, Since the 1985 survey (Goodwin et al. 1987),
bankline erosion has continued to affect the site areas along
this stretch of river. River scouring is evident 1in
stratigraphic profiles from sites 16 IV 147 and 16 IV 149.
Similarly, forty tree stumps were visible in the river in
1985 (Carrollton Gauge level = 4,08 on September 1, 1985),
and only two near 16 IV 147 were observed in 1987 (Carrollton
Gauge 1level = 1.60 on November 1, 1987). In 1985,
collections of artifacts were made along the beach and
bankline at both 16 IV 147 and 16 1V 149 (Goodwin et al.
1987). During the 1987 field season, no artifacts were
observed along the river's edge, and the venues of the
previous collections were no longer present.

In addition to river activity, anthropogenic factors have
reshaped the batture since the 1985 field season. Tree
felling and mechanized levelling by the Levee District
between the river side levee toe and the bankline were
observed by the Principal Investigator during a field visit
in Winter, 1986. These activities did not effect either
site. A large pipeline perpendicular to the levee between
sites 16 IV 147 and 16 1V 149 also was emplaced during 1987;
substantial clearing and excavation was undertaken for that
project, but those efforts missed both site areas. Finally,
a batture trail road (unpaved) currently is maintained
parallel to the levee between the river's edge and the levee.
that trail road impinges on site 16 IV 149; grading and
levelling with a bulldozer has altered batture topography for
the length of that road.
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CHAPTER III

HISTORIC OVERVIEW

The French Colonial Period

The earliest documented exploration of the lower
Mississippi River valley was conducted by the colonial
French. In 1682, Rene-Robert Cavalier, Sieur de La Salle,
descended the Mississippi River from the Illinois Territory
and claimed the lower Mississippi River valley region
including the Iberville Parish study area for France, La
Salle visited the Bayogoula village and the Mugulasha Indians
near present day Bayou Goula. In 1685, Henri de Tonti
retraced La Salle's Mississippi River route and stopped at
the Bayogoula village. In 1699, Pierre le Moyne, Sieur
d'Iberville, and his brother, Jean Baptiste le Moyne, Sieur
de Bienville, entered the mouth of the river and ascended to
the Bayogoula village. The Jesuit priest Father Paul Du Ru
built a church at the Bayogoula village in 1700. However,
during 1702 the village and church were destroyed in a Taensa
Indian raid (McWilliams 1953:68).

Early eighteenth century French colonial policy 1in
Louisiana included the granting of large agricultural
concessions, mostly along the fertile lands of the
Mississippi River. These concessions were sold to wealthy
grantees by private monopolies, such as John Law's Company of
the West. The earliest and closest concession to the study
area was granted to M. Paris dit Duverney in 1718. The Paris
concession was located at the "old village of the
Bayogoulas,”" on the west bank of the Mississippi River
(McWilliams 1953). Paris was a director of John Law's
Company of the West, but he did not settle in the new
Louisiana territory. Instead, the large concession was
managed by M. Dubuisson for the absen*ee landlord. The first
census ©of the Louisiana colony (1721) contains comments on
the Paris concession. The census taker, Diron Dartaguette,
wrote:

Sr. Dubuisson, consessionaire living at
Bayagoulas (sic) on the Mississippi about
thirty leagues above New Orleans, has tried
wheat which succeeded very well and ripened
perfectly. He had a very fine crop in
relation to what he had sown. He had also
sowed indigo seed which grew very well. It
1s thought that three crops might be raised
or at least two very good ones in one year.
Sr. Dubuisson has made a test which turned
out very well and produced a good silk. He

9




e

sent samples to the company of the Indies
and to Mr. Paris (Beer 1930: 220-221).

Penicaut, who was sent to the area by Governor Bienville
in 1722 to make peace with the raiding Chitimachas, described
the Paris concession:

The first concession established was that of
M. Paris, managed by M. Dubuisson, who had
brought his brother and his two sisters with
him, with twenty-five persons and many
personal possessions. It was located
twenty-eight leagues above New Orleans on
the left bank of the Missicipy (sic) going
upstream, in the o0ld village of the
Bayogoulas. In addition to the tilling of
fields, they -established a silkworm factory
there; for that reason they planted a great
many mulberry seedlings (McWilliams
1953:211-212).

Disputes with the neighboring Chitimachas were common, but
they did not successfully disrupt plantation activities
(Goodwin, Gendel, and Yakubik 1986). However, the Paris
concession along this stretch of the river was an isolated
success, For the remainder of the French colonial period
(1718-1762), few settlements were established in the region.

The Spanish Colonial Period

John Law's Company of the West collapsed in 1720 from
over~speculation and from the sale of fraudulent stock by
directors such as M. Paris dit Duverney (Fortier 1914; Bryant
et al, 1982). The takeover of the Louisiana colony by the
French crown did little to revive the struggling territory.
With the exception of the German Coast settlements in what
are now St. Charles and St. John the Baptist Parishes, the
French failed to attract industrious homesteaders to
cultivate the Mississippi River concessions. This failure,
coupled with the intrinsic instability of indigo as a
profitable cash crop, kept the Louisiana colony in debt. In
1762, France ceded the Louisiana Territory to Spain under the
secret Treaty of Fontainebleau.

The Iberville Parish region was sparsely populated
between 1760 and 1785, except for isolated settlements on the
east bank. The first Spanish governor, Don Antonio de Ulloa,
arrived in Louisiana in 1766. Before Ulloa's ousting during
the 1768 insurrection, over 200 Acadian refugees arrived in
New Orleans. Ulloa sent them to the Spanish Fort of St.
Gabriel on the Cote d'lIberville (Saucier 1951:83). Pittman
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wrote of the first Acadians who settled this area of
Iberville Parish ca. 1770:

The new settlements of the Acadians are on
both sides of the river, and reach from the
Germans to within seven or eight miles of
the river Ibberville (sic) [Bayou Manchac].
These are the remainder of the families
which were sent by General Lawrence from
Nova Scotia to our southern provinces; where
by their industry, they did and might have
continued to live very happy, but that they
could not publicly enjoy the Roman Catholic
religion, to which they are greatly bigoted.
They took the earliest opportunity, after
the peace, of transporting themselves to St.
Domingo where the climate disagreed with
them so much, that they in a few months lost
near half their numbers; the remainder, few
only excepted, were in the latter year 1763,
removed to New Orleans, at the expense of
the King of France (Pittman 1906:60-61).

Pittman's 1765 map (Figure 4) shows the Spanish Fort (St.
Gabriel) and the Iberville Coast. The Acadian St. Gabriel
settlement was not successful. Disease, food shortages,
Indian raids, and lack of communication between French-
speaking Acadians and the Spanish military contributed to its
demise (Perkins 1985). Besides Acadians, the Spanish brought
Spanish-speaking Islenos from the Canary Islands to the east
bank of the Iberville Coast. Between 1765 and 1775, Governor
Galvez sent Islenos to a post located below the confluence of
the Iberville (Bayou Manchac) and Amite rivers. This
military outpost, named Galveztown, was a strategically
important, if small settlement; the population never exceeded
250. It eventually was abandoned during the early decades of
the nineteenth century.

Census statistics from the Spanish period indicate that
the Iberville Coast region continued to develop slowly. The
first Spanish census of 1769 listed only 379 persons in the
Iberville district; of these, 78 resided near the Paris
concession (Fortier 1914:524). The district's population
decreased to 277 in 1771 (Kinnaird 1945:196). By 1785, a
number of Acadian families had settled on both sides of the
Mississippi River near what is now the town of Plaquemine,
The arrival of additional Acadian refugees increased the
population of the area from 673 in 1785, to 944 in 1788
{Martin 1882:240, 242). The area became known as the
"Acadian Coast." C. C. Robin described the Acadian Coast
farmsteads in 1807:

11




«(Kaeaqr A3ji1saaatug
saueTny] ‘UOT3OBTTIOD pueTsSINOT) UOISS3DUOD
s,ksuiasang 231p siied buimous ‘s3131eyy
33104 03 dn _9zI[Pd 8yl woajz 1dd1SssiSSTW 23AlY
ay3y 30 aybneig ¢9L1 s, uew3llld wo13y 3daaoxd *y 2anbtr g

ot 0 S Y

- - = e et

- - T T T W TR T s pnet

R

.fs.m\, --\E,.\.\kw\ ; ««\3 P NS-....\\

r&.vm . .
sary fugy AR PR

£
\n\.vwx 4\‘ N

swunwyi! §.§$.¢w

ot TR N \,»

12




Twenty leagues above the city the Acadian
coast begins and runs about another twenty
up from there. Like the Germans they work
their own farms. Only a few of them have
Negroes. Already the population has risen
so that the farms are subdivided into strips
of two or three arpents frontage. You must
remember that each plot ran back forty
arpents from the river. Only about half of
that depth, however, is under cultivation,
the rest being inundated and covered with
cypress and similar swamp vegetation. Rice,
corn, several kinds of beans, melon (in
season), pumpkin, salted pork and beef make
up their principle diet. Their customs can
be compared to those of our farmers of
Beauce and Brie Good fellows! They do not
show the zeal in their work that their
European confreres would, for on the one
hand, they are not pressed by the necessity,
and on the other hand, the lack of outlets
for their products discourages them from
greater efforts, However, they are still
Frenchmen, passionately loving their
country, proud to work for it, and showing a
great predilection for its products (Landry
1966:114-115).

During the Spanish period, a number of patents were
granted for land claims along the study area. In 1774,
Athanase Daiden received a patent for six arpents front on
the Mississippi River by forty in depth, corresponding to
Section 10 in T10S, R13E (Lowrie 1834:272). Louis Dardenne
and Blas (Blaise) Lejeaune were formally granted parcels
corresponding to Sections 9 and 8 of T10S, R1l3E. Dardenne
was granted six arpents front by forty in depth, and Lejeaune
was granted five arpents front by forty in depth (Lowrie
1834:228,242).

The 1777 census listed 212 persons living on the right
bank of the river. The census did not list the above-
mentioned Acadian grantees in the study area, nor were they
listed in the colonial parish registers from St. Gabriel
(Arsenault 1965:1039-1046). No historical information
concerning these individuals has been found except for their
appearance in the Spanish land grants.

The Antebellum Period

Geopolitical changes and agricultural innovations brought
economic changes to Louisiana during the 1790s and early

13




1800s. Spain ceded Louisiana back to France in 1800 under
the secret Treaty of Ildefonso. France sold the colony to
the United States in 1803. In 1804, the U. S. Congress
created a territorial government,. In 1805, the first
governor, William C. Claiborne, divided the Territory of New
Orleans into twelve counties including that of Iberville,
The new administrative system was unpopular; in 1807, the
Legislature made nineteen parishes, again including lberville
(Brasseaux et al. 1977:11-12),

For a number of reasons, indigo, which had been
Louisiana's primary cash crop, no longer could compete on the
world market, Indigo produced in India was cheaper. Insect
blights and inclement weather caused severe crop losses, and
indigo exhausted the soil. An increase in the price of
slaves made it difficult to obtain labor necessary for indigo
production. Indigo production polluted the streams between
Pointe Coupee and the Yazoo River (Holmes 1967:346-348).
Other factors in the changing economy were the invention of
the cotton gin and the development of a commercial process
for extracting sugar from immature cane. Cotton and sugar
cane cultivation rapidly became far more profitable than
indigo.

Although the best areas for cotton cultivation were along
the river in the Attakapas and Opelousas districts, north of
Baton Rouge, cotton was grown as far south as St. James
Parish during the early nineteenth century. Berguin-Duvallon
described the area at that time:

The parish of Iberville then commences, and
is bounded on the east side by the river if
the same name, which, though dry a great
part of the year, yet when the Mississippi
is raised, it communicates with the lakes
Maurepas and Ponchartrain, and through them
with the sea; thus forming what is called
the island of New Orleans. Except on the
point just below Iberville [Bayou Manchac],
the country from New Orleans is settled the
whole way along the river, and presents a
scene of uninterrupted plantations in sight
of each other, whose fronts are all cleared
to the Mississippi, and occupy on that river
from five to twenty-five acres with a depth
of forty; so that a plantation of five acres
in front contains two hundred.

A few sugar plantations are formed in the
parish of Cabahanose, but the remainder is
devoted to cotton and provisions, and the
whole is an excellent soil incapable of
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being exhausted. The plantations are but
one deep on the island of New Orleans, and
on the opposite side of the river as far as
the mouth of the Iberville, which is thirty-
five leagues above New Orleans (Davis
1806:167-168, sic throughout).

The average yield of a superficial arpent of land was
approximately 400 pounds of cotton, worth about §$100.00
during the early nineteenth century. One skilled slave (or
farmer) could cultivate three arpents of land planted with
cotton (Robertson 1911:155; Taylor 1976). Cultivation of
cotton has been discussed in more detail elsewhere (Goodwin,
Gendel, and Yakubik 1983, Goodwin, Yakubik, and Gendel 1983).

Acquisition of the Louisiana Territory stimulated
American immigration into the region. Opportunities offered
by the growing sugar and cotton industries attracted new
settlers. These new agricultural industries required large
investments for large tracts of land, slaves, sugar mills,
cotton gins, levees, implements of husbandry, etc. In fact,
the total investment for a sugar plantation often exceeded
$200,000.00 during the antebellum period (Taylor 1976:65).
The small Acadian farmers and planters increasingly sold
their holdings to large plantation owners or to wealthy
speculators (White 1944:352),

Sugar production rapidly outdistanced that of cotton
early in the nineteenth century both within the study area
and in nearby St. James Parish. Bergquin-Duvalon wrote:

The sugar cane may be cultivated between the
river Iberville and New Orleans, on both
sides of the Mississippi, and as far back as
the swamps.... Above the Iberville [Bayou
Manchac] the cane would be affected by the
cold, and its produce would, therefore, be
uncertain., Within these limits, the best
planters admit that one quarter of the
cultivation lands of any considerable
pPlantation may be planted in cane, one
quarter left in pasture, and the remaining
half employed for provisions, etc. and a
reserve for a change of crops. One Parisian
arpent of one hundred and eighty feet
square, may be expected to produce, on an
average, twelve hundred weight of sugar, and
fifty gallons of rum (Davis 1806:168-169;
sic throughout).

Within the study area, the small farms were sold and
consolidated into larger plantations primarily as a result of
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the shift to sugar cane cultivation. Between 1800 and 1830,
the study area changed from small farming to large scale
sugar cane cultivation. Economic practices related to cane
cultivation and the sugar industry are detailed elsewhere
(Goodwin, Yakubik, and Gendel 1983; Goodwin, Stayner, et al.
1984).

Shortly after the Louisiana Purchase, the U. S.
Government instituted territorial surveys and legal
ratification of land ownership within those territories.
Local landowners were reguired to register formal claims;
legal ownership was based on proof of French or Spanish
grants, patents, concessions, and orders of survey. If
records were not available, proof of ten years of continuous
habitation and cultivation prior to 1803 was accepted. all
of the original United States claims for land within the
project area were small tracts. Joseph Orillon claimed
several small parcels corresponding to Section 9 of TI10S,
R13E, which originally was Louis Dardenne's Spanish grant
(Lowrie 1834:242). Marie Joseph Hebert claimed a parcel of
land corresponding to Section 10 of T10S, R13E (Lowrie
1834:272). Records indicate that through the first decade of
the nineteenth century, small farmsteads comprised the
primary land use within the project area.

Significant land use changes occurred in the study area
during the next two decades, due to the establishment of a
sugar cane plantation and to the arrival of Anglo-American
planters. During that period, sugar planters Lauve and Shiff
acquired Sections 8, 9, and 10 of T10S, RL3E (Office of State
Lands, Department of Natural Resources, Baton Rouge). Little
information is available regarding the partners Lauve and
shiff. According to previous historical research (Goodwin et
al. 1987), Lauve may have been Edward Lauve, Captain of the
Port of New Orleans in 1825 (New Orleans Municipal Papers,
Special Collections, Howard Tilton Library, Tulane
University). Lauve and Shiff developed their holdings into a
successful sugar plantation measuring about eighteen arpents
front on the river. By 1844, that sugar estate was called
"Celeste." It was under the management of Mrs. E. Lauve at
least from 1844 to 1868 (Table 1, Figure 5). Celeste
Plantation maintained a steam powered sugar mill; it produced
more than 300 hogsheads of sugar in most years prior to the
Civil War. In the bumper crop years of 1844, 1853, and 1861,
the high yields were 578, 633, and 685 hogsheads of sugar,
respectively (Table 1).

The Civil War and Its Aftermath

The Civil War devastated the prosperous region containing
Iberville Parish. J.W. Dorr chronicled the value of
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Table 1. Sugar Production at Celeste Plantation (Champomier
1844-1862; L. Bouchereau 1868-1877; A. Bouchereau
1878-1914).

Sugar Rice
Year Owner /Manager in Hhds in Bbls
18441 Mrs. E. Lauve 578
1845 " 315
1849 " 201
1850 " 340
1851 " 250
1852 " 480
1853 " 633
1854 " 430
1855 " 182
1856 " 110
1857 " 290
1858 " 320
1859 " 266
1860 " 385
1861 " 685
18682 " 84,926
1869 Ulger Lauve 72,000 1lbs.
1870 " 153,000 1bs.
18713 " 51
1872 " —_————
1873 F. S. Duffossat _———
1874 " _——
1875 Thos. Sellers & Co. N.Y.
1876 " —-——— 5,730
1877 " ———— 4,285
.1878 " _—— 2,571
1879 " N.Y.
1880 Tristand Gauthreaux -—— 3,475
1881 Ernest Triche _—— 1,690
1882 J. J. Thompson -——— 2,550
1883 Citizens Bank —_———— —_———
1884 R. Laurent & Co. - 4,222
1885 " -—— 4,950
1886
1888 Not Listed
1889 Thompson & Wilkinson ——— 5,675
1890
1895 Not Listed
18964 James A. Ware _— -———
1l Steam powered mill
2 Brick shingle sugar house; steam and kettle apparatuses
i Steam, kettle, and open pan apparatuses

Sugar production is not reported after this date, although
Ware, and later Belle Grove Planting and Manufacturing Co.
(1911-1916), continued to be listed until 1916
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property in Iberville Parish on the eve of the Civil war.
Dorr noted that the assessed value of property in 1Iberville
Parish was approximately $14,000,000.00, At that time,
33,000 acres were planted in cane; 22,000 were planted in
corn; and 1,500 acres were in cotton. The white population
of the parish was approximately 5,600; the slave population
was approximately 10,000. Only 200 free men of color resided
in the parish (Pritchard 1938:1129).

After New Orleans fell to Federal troops in 1862, Union
gunboats ascended the Mississippi River; they shelled and
occupied the town of Plaquemine. Union forces in Plaquemine
confiscated St. Basil's Academy (presently St. Basil's
Restaurant and Guest House) for their headquarters, and they
built a fortification 400 yards southeast of the town on the
Mississippi River. The fort was square and had bastions at
each corner; it maintained eight heavy cannons, It was
abandoned and dismantled after the war (Grace 1946:125;
Riffel 1985:85). Although skirmishes in the parish were
minimal, widespread confiscation of movables did occur (Grace
1946:125).

Louisiana's slave-based sugar industry was slow to
recover. Prices fell, credit was tight, and it was nearly
impossible to keep slaves on the plantations (Begnaud
1980:38-39; Goodwin and Yakubik 1982). As a result of these
financial difficulties, many planters lost their estates.
Bouchereau (1889-1890) noted some of the causes that
prevented capital investment in sugar cane:

Changes in labor systems, bad politics and
government, and fear that the (sugar) tariff
would be abolished or greatly modified,
preventing capital from being
invested....(A. Bouchereau 1889-1890:53a).

A pervasive lack of capital and the loss of slave labor
impeded the revitalization of the industry. Planters could
not afford to rebuild their sugar houses, nor could they
repair levees. Without the proper levees, many former sugar
plantations were inundated during high water. The loss of
slave labor further encumbered economic recovery. Former
slaves migrated north, and those who stayed were regarded as
unreliable; they were perceived by the white population as a
political threat. L. Bouchereau (1870-1871:XIX) advocated
employment of German and Chinese contract laborers. He also
urged that agricultural and industrial aspects of sugar
production be separated. His solution, the "Central Factory
System," included centralized mills to serve the needs of
many planters. This way, the increased labor costs could be
absorbed by the savings from mill processing and
manufacturing. This system also allowed smaller farmers to
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participate in sugar cane cultivation.

Rice cultivation became a viable alternative to the high
cost of sugar cane production for many planters in Iberville
Parish. 1In 1877, Bouchereau wrote:

Many of the sugar plantations are planted in
rice for want of the necessary means to
rebuild or repair sugar houses, etc., while
others are only partially cultivated owing
to the encroachment of water from crevasses,
and many are completely abandoned on account
of overflow (L. Bouchereau 1877-1878:XX).

Rice was a more appropriate cultigen after the Civil War:
inundation, although harmful to the growth of sugarcane, was
necessary for rice cultivation. The Reconstruction Period
cultivation and economics of rice in the River Parishes are
discussed in more detail elsewhere (Goodwin, Stayner, et al.
1984).

The Postbellum Period

Celeste Plantation attempted to reestablish its
prominence as a profitable sugar plantation after the Civil
War. It was acqguired by Ulger Lauve, who was possibly Mrs.,
Lauve's son, in 1869, In 1868, a new brick shingle sugar
house was erected at Celeste (Table 1). Despite the
reinvestment in facilities, crop yields remained low at
Celeste until 1871, Before the Civil War, Ulger Lauve lived
in New Orleans; between 1856 and 1859, he was part owner of
Sebastopol Plantation in St. Bernard Parish (Sebastopol
Plantation Papers, Special Collections, Howard Tilton
Library, Tulane University; Sebastopol Plantation Documents,
Special Collections, Louisiana State University Library,
Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical
College). In 1873, Celeste Plantation was purchased by F.
Soniat Duffossat; two years later, it was in the possession
of Thomas Sellers and Company, who used it for rice
cultivation (Table 1). During the 1880s, Celeste Plantation
had a series of owners (Table 1),

Figures 6 and 7 show standing structures at Celeste in
1880 and 1921, respectively. In the early 1880s, a double
row of tenant cabins extended perpendicular to the river into
the fields. The large structure upriver from the cabins
probably was the sugar house, which may have been converted
into a rice mill. Residential buildings, including the
owner's great house and the overseer's house, were located
near the river. Both of the archeological sites under
consideration here (16 IV 147 and 16 IV 149) are located
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Figure 6.

Excerpt from Chart 68 of the 1879-1880
Mississippi River Commission (drafted 1882-
1883), (Map on file, R. Christopher Goodwin &
Associates, Inc., New Orleans).
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Figure 7.

Excerpt from Chart 68 of the 1921 Mississippi
River Commission (Map on file, R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., New
Orleans).
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within the former boundaries of Celeste Plantation. An
excerpt from an 1892 map of the Celeste and Mt. Salem Levees
shows a "Celeste residence"™ in the vicinity of 16 IV 149
(Figure 8).

Twentieth Century Development

Agricultural production at Celeste was not reported after
1890. In 1896, when the plantation was purchased by James
Ware, it was consolidated in the adjacent upriver Belle Grove
Plantation (Fiqure 7). Sugar cane cultivation maintained its
prominence throughout the twentieth century in Iberville
Parish. Cotton production lessened, while rice, corn, fruit
and pecans increased (Iberville Parish Planning Board 1945).
Livestock breeding increased during the 1930s and 1940s, with
former rice fields being used for pasture land. By the
1960s, cattle production was secondary to cane as a source of
farm income (Iberville Parish Planning Board 1945; 1964).
Soybeans, originally planted with corn to replenish the soil,
have become a significant crop in recent years.

The lumber industry became increasingly important to the
economy of Iberville Parish during the late nineteenth
century. The town of Whitecastle developed around the
Whitecastle Lumber and Shingle Company, Ltd. (The Southern
Manufacturer 1900). Fortier (1914:525) claimed that more
cypress shingles were manufactured in Iberville than in any
other parish in Louisiana.

Industrialization has accelerated in Iberville Parish
over the last twenty years, In 1956, Dow Chemical Co.
established a Louisiana Division north of the town of
Plaguemine. Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co., and Georgia
Pacific, also have located plants located in the parish. 0il
and gas fields were discovered in the 1940s (Davis 1940:141).
However, this increased industrialization has not affected
the predominantly rural project area.

Summary of Significant Historic Themes

Historic land use in the project area was typical of the
Acadian river parishes. The area initially was occupied by
small Acadian farmers. These small holdings eventually were
consolidated into the larger Celeste sugar plantation,
Celeste Plantation never recovered financially as a sugar
plantation after the Civil War; rice cultivation was
undertaken there during Reconstruction. The Celeste holdings
were consolidated into Belle Grove Plantation around the turn
of the century.
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Four major themes have special historical significance
for the present project area and vicinity. They are: (1)
Acadian farmstead settlement in Iberville Parish; (2) the
antebellum development of the sugar cane industry; (3)
recovery of the sugar industry during the postbellum period;
and, (4) the development of the rice industry during
Reconstruction. These four themes provide a framework for
the evaluation of cultural resources recovered during
archeological testing,
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CHAPTER IV

PREVIOUS INVESTIGATIONS

Investigations Within the Project Vicinity

A number of archeological excavations have been
conducted within the vicinity of the present study area.
These investigations reflect in part the important role the
region played during the early contact period in Louisiana.
Excavations at the Bayou Goula Site (16 IV 11l) located just
north of the town Bayou Goula were reported by Quimby (1957).
Excavations focused on the mounds and on several structures
at the site. Two components were identified from the mound
excavations: a prehistoric Coles Creek-Plaguemine component,
and a contact period component. A number of refuse pits and
eleven burials were excavated at 16 IV 1l1l; the majority
appeared to derive from the later historic component. Brown
(1976) subsequently has argued that the house structures,
originally thought to have been aboriginal, conform more
closely to those of the early colonial French concession.

McIntire (1958:Plate 13) reported on work conducted at
the Clara Murray Site (16 IV 12), also located just north of
the town of Bayou Goula. Two pyramidal mounds, now
extensively plowed, were present at the site. At least some
of the ceramic artifacts were associated with the late Tchula
period (200 B.C. - 1 B.C.). Marksville and Plaquemine
materials also were present in the artifactual assemblage.

Fredlund (1982) examined two eighteenth century
archeological sites at Bayou Goula. One previously
unrecorded site, 16 IV 134, was tested; it yielded an
impressive assemblage of aboriginal ceramic and chipped stone
artifacts in association with eighteenth century European
artifacts., Fredlund (1982) argued that 16 IV 134 may have
been the site of the Bayogoula-Mugulasha Village visited by
d'Iberville in 1699. Site 16 1V 11, traditionally thought to
have been that site, apparently conforms to historical
descriptions of the du Buisson-du Vernax Concession of 1718
(Giardino 1984).

A number of bankline surveys also have been conducted
within the vicinity of sites 16 IV 147 and 16 IV 149, Bryant
et al. (1982) reported on a bankline survey near the town of
Bayou Goula, at the Tally Ho Plantation Site (16 IV 135).
Bankline erosion and levee construction appear to have
disturbed and destroyed evidence of the site in that project
reach; the majority of remains were recent, and were
recovered from the surface,
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Goodwin, Stayner, et al. (1984) reported on a cultural
resources survey of the New River Bend Revetment Item located
on the east (left descending) bank of the Mississippi River
in Iberville Parish, Three sites were recorded during that
survey: the Hard Times Plantation Site (16 IV 143); the
Carville Dump Site (16 IV 144); and, New River Bend Site 1
{16 IV 145). None of these sites was considered eligible for
nomination to or inclusion on the National Register of
Historic Places.

Pearson and Guevin (1984), and Goodwin, Gendel, and
Yakubik (1986) completed independent investigations for the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers at the former location of the
town of Bayou Goula. Archeological testing at 16 IV 131
first was conducted in 1983 (Pearson and Guevin 1984).
Investigations were designed to assess the nature, character,
and significance of cultural resources there. In addition,
mitigation plans for cultural resources located within
revetment boundaries were developed.

The 1983 field work included pedestrian survey,
controlled surface collection, backhoe excavation, and hand
excavation, The project area was subdivided into nine
segments or "Survey Collection Areas," each 137 meters in
length and extending from the water line to the riverside toe
of the modern levee. The majority of artifactual remains
occurred along the bankline of the Mississippi River.
Subsequently, twenty-two collection localities were
established along the bankline at areas where cultural
remains were exposed (Pearson and Guevin 1984:89).

A total of twenty-two backhoe trenches were excavated
during the 1983 investigations. The excavation of test
trenches was designed to locate remains associated with the
Bayou Goula Site (16 IV 1ll), and nineteenth and twentieth
century structural remains from the town of Bayou Goula. All
trenches were placed between the toe of the modern levee and
the landside edge of the borrow pit, outside of the revetment
impact area. No remains that could be correlated with Site
16 IV 11 were recovered. However, in situ deposits were
recorded in the riverbank profile, Collection Area 3,
Locality 3, Feature 1 (viz. Pearson and Guevin 1984); these
remains were interpreted as residential debris from the late
nineteenth and early twentieth century town of Bayou Goula.
In addition, surface collections from Collection Areas 5 and
6 were interpreted as evidence of a late nineteenth century
commercial district (Pearson and Guevin 1984:94).

The significance of the Bayou Goula Landing Site 3 (16
IV 131) was not resolved during the 1983 season, and
revetment construction was postponed pending conclusive
evaluation of the sites's significance. In 1985, R,
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Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. conducted
archeological testing at Bayou Goula Landing and to assess
the significance of the site, applying the National Register
criteria. Investigations were conducted within the parameters
of the research design for historic archeological study
previously developed by Pearson and Guevin (1984).
Additional theoretical and methodological issues not
specifically addressed by Pearson and Guevin (1984) also were
identified., These included the question of site abandonment
in an historic context (Goodwin et al. 1986:38),

Finally, Goodwin et al. (1987) reported the results of a
cultural resources survey of the White Castle Revetment Item,
Iberville Parish. The study area was located on the west
(right descending) bank of the Mississippi River, These
investigations were designed to assess the nature, character,
and significance, of cultural resources within the proposed
revetment right-of-way downstream from 16 IV 1l. Six sites
(White Castle Site 1, 16 1V 147, 16 IV 148, 16 IV 149, 16 1V
150, and 16 IV 151), including the two under consideration
here, were located during that survey effort. Artifacts
associated with White Castle 1 were determined to represent
remains of the Belle Grove warehouse which were incorporated
into fill near the ferry landing at White Castle. Due to a
lack of contextual integrity, White Castle 1 was not assigned
a state site number (Goodwin et al. 1987:45). Site 16 IV 148
consisted of two small surface scatters including several
aboriginal ceramic sherds and a small collection of historic
glass. Because of the lack of intact cultural deposits, the
site was not considered eligible for consideration for
nomination to the National Register of Historic Places
(Goodwin et al, 1987:71). Site 16 IV 150 consisted of a
small collection of historic glass, metal, and brick
fragments. Although a mean ceramic date of 1798.7 (n=6) was
established for the artifacts, the lack of contextual
integrity, and the paucity of remains precluded its
consideration as a significant resource (Goodwin et al.
1987:80). Site 16 IV 151 consisted of a surface scatter of
historic ceramic sherds, brick, and metal along the bankline
of the Mississippi River. In addition, several aboriginal
ceramic sherds were collected at the site. No intact
cultural deposits were present at the site, The historic
remains were interpreted as the remains of the Celeste
Plantation great house complex.

Investigations at Other Pertinent Sites

Several other previously studied sites outside of the
vicinity of the present project area are similar to those
found at White Castle Revetment, and therefore merit review
here. These sites have been studied more intensively; they
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also provide more extensive collections of comparative
materials from riverine sites dating from the antebellum
period. Tally-Ho Plantation (16 IV 135) was located above
White Castle and just below Bayou Goula. The plantation
dates from approximately 1836, In 1980, test excavations
were conducted at the site in order to determine whether
evidence of any of the previous locations of the plantation
was present (the plantation was reconfigured several times
and buildings moved due to levee setbacks). No s*“ructural
remains or intact artifactual deposits were located. Erosion
and bankline movement appeared to have erased all evidence of
the plantation. All artifacts recovered from the site were
interpreted as having been redeposited during periods of
flooding, and during the course of trash disposal during in
historic and modern times (Bryant et al. 1982:293). The
report (Bryant et al. 1982) includes only a catalogue of the
artifacts collected from the site. It does not provide the
results of artifact analyses (i.e. mean ceramic dates, etc.),
making comparison with other assemblages difficult.

In 1982, Goodwin, Yakubik, and Goodwin (1983, 1984)
conducted investigations at the Elmwood Plantation Site (16
JE 138). The site was found to be in excellent condition,
with little subsurface disturbance. As a result, a tight
whole-site chronology was developed, and construction events
were dated with precision. 1In addition, changes in artifact
patterns at the site over time could be correlated with
documented historical events. Therefore, the assemblages
from this site are an excellent source of comparative data
for antebellum plantations along the Mississippi River.

In 1983, Goodwin, Gendel, and Yakubik reported the
results of investigations at Lakeland Plantation (16 PC 33).
The site consisted of a scatter of cultural refuse along the
beach downriver from the St. Francisville Ferry Landing.
Artifacts observed along the beach included nails, glass,
ceramics, and bricks. In addition, three archeological
features consisting of discrete scatters of bricks along the
shoreline were defined during pedestrian survey. Associated
archeological remains and map data indicated that one or more
of these features represented the disturbed and redeposited
materials of a barn associated with Lakeland Plantation.
This investigation provided additional comparative
information for a variety of site types along the Mississippi
River.

In 1983, Goodwin, Yakubik, and Gendel conducted
investigations at Bourbon Plantation (16S8J38), in St. James
Parish, in order to provide an historic overview and
evaluation of the research potential of the site. Field
investigations at the site were designed to det:rmine the
extent, nature, stratigraphy, and cultural associations of
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the site. Surface manifestations at Bourbon Plantation
included several scatters of brick rubble, and the eroded
remains of a wood-lined privy. Five backhoe trenches were
excavated in the vicinity of the brick rubble observed along
the cutbank; these revealed brick, masonry, brick rubble, and
ash. Goodwin & Associates, Inc. determined that these
features were associated with the former sugar house and
adjacent yard of Bourbon Plantation. With the exception of
brick, additional artifactual subassemblages were not
recovered during the course of field investigations. This
was due to the complete dismantling and removal of the
Bourbon sugar house equipment in 1930. As a result,
laboratory analyses of remains from the Bourbon Plantation
site necessarily focused on the brick subassemblage; the
majority of bricks dated from the mid-nineteenth century.

1985 Investigations at Site 16 IV 147

At the time of the 1985 field season, the Site 16 IV 147
consisted 0of a linear concentration of historic and
prehistoric artifacts extending almost 360 m along the beach
and bankline of the Mississippi River (Figure 9). In some
places, artifacts occurred as far as 20 m landward of the
water line, onto the wide bench or terrace above the cutbank.
Historic structural and artifactual remains were observed
eroding from the upper bluff edge (or cutbank) in several
places. However, the vast majority of cultural debris
occurred at the surface along the beach. In addition, a
series of about forty tree stumps were observed along the
beach and in the river, which was at low water at the time of
survey. The trees extended along the entire length of the
site, or for about 360 m. Methodologies applied at 16 IV 147
during the 1985 season included